NO. 70518-1-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

SAY KEODARA,

v.

Appellant.

COURT OF APPEALS OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Due to the vast amount of personal information easily accessed through a person's cell phone, police must have a warrant to search for even one text message on a cell phone. However, a warrant is unconstitutionally overbroad if it authorizes unrestricted access to private information that is unconnected to the criminal investigation underlying the warrant. The police obtained a warrant allowing full access to all information on Say Keodara's cell phone, without limits on the type of information, the date it was stored on the phone, or specific connection of the cell phone to criminal activity. The evidence obtained from the overbroad warrant should have been suppressed.

Mr. Keodara was 17 years old when the offenses occurred. The court imposed a sentence equivalent to life in prison based on a sentencing scheme that does not permit it to weigh whether a youthful offender is less culpable than a mature adult. The sentence violates the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14 of the state constitution.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The search of Mr. Keodara's cell phone violated the Fourth Amendment and the greater protections of article I, section 7.

- The court erred by denying the motion to suppress evidence gathered from the cell phone.
- The sentence imposed by the court violates the Eighth Amendment and article I, section 14.
- Mr. Keodara received ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. A search warrant must insure the invasion of privacy is no more than necessary by restricting the search to items for which the issuing judge has found probable cause of criminal activity. Searches of digital information involve a heightened risk of intrusiveness and require additional privacy protections. The police obtained a warrant to search Mr. Keodara's cell phone for all information stored or accessed through it, even if it had no connection to the alleged offenses used as the basis for the warrant. Did the warrant fail the particularity requirement of the Fourth Amendment and impermissibly invade Mr. Keodara's private affairs in violation of article I, section 7.
- 2. When a child commits a crime and faces a sentencing scheme crafted for adult offenders, the sentencing court must adjust the sentence to account for his reduced blameworthiness and capacity for

rehabilitation under controlling case law from the United States

Supreme Court. The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) does not permit a
judge to reduce a person's sentence based on personal circumstances
such as youth or rehabilitation. Is the sentencing court constitutionally
required to consider whether a youthful offender's reduced culpability
and capacity for rehabilitation merit a sentence below the adult-based
standard range?

- 3. Article I, section 14 provides more protection against cruel punishment than the Eighth Amendment. Does it violate article I, section 14 to impose a *de facto* life sentence on a child by applying mandatory minimum sentencing requirements that do not account for youth and its attributes?
- 4. An attorney's failure to inform the court of its discretion to impose a lower sentence constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

 Mr. Keodara's attorney did not ask the court to depart from the standard range even though the United States Supreme Court has declared life sentences are presumptively cruel and unusual punishment when imposed on children. Did Mr. Keodara receive ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At about 3 a.m. on September 9, 2011, three men and one woman were drinking beer at a bus shelter on Rainer Avenue. 5/8/13RP 20, 118, 122-23. A car pulled up, someone inside offered "soft," meaning cocaine, and one of the men at the bus shelter expressed interest. *Id.* at 128. When the potential sellers got out of their car, they learned that the potential buyer had no money. *Id.* at 129. One potential seller pulled out a gun and demanded everyone hand over the money from their pockets, but no one had money. *Id.* at 132. This man shot at all four people. *Id.* at 136. One man died and the other three received gunshot wounds. 5/9/13RP 46; 5/13/13RP 13, 18, 21.

None of the surveillance cameras from nearby stores captured the shooting, but some showed fuzzy images of a car possibly used by the sellers. Exs. 17, 18, 19; 5/13/13/RP 138. One camera showed a grainy picture of a man in a blue sleeveless jersey with writing on it, similar to the description of the shooter. 5/8/13RP 154; Ex. 18. It may have been a blue jersey from the Charlotte Hornets, which is a "very common NBA jersey." 5/13/14RP 90.

Sharon McMillon, the woman at the bus shelter, was the only eyewitness to the shooting who testified at trial. *Id.* at 118. She

described the shooter as about 23 years old, with no facial hair and no tattoos. *Id.* at 153-54. Say Keodara has large tattoos on his arm. Ex. 62B; 5/16/13RP 39. Ms. McMillon did not identify Mr. Keodara as the shooter in court.

Mr. Keodara was charged several months later. CP 1. Police showed a "very blurry" photograph taken from surveillance video to Lacona Long, a then-15-year old who had dated Mr. Keodara for two months in 2011. 5/13/13RP 142, 145-46. She agreed that the picture showed Mr. Keodara but later said that the image was such a poor quality that she would not have been able to say it showed Mr. Keodara if the police had not prompted her. *Id.* at 149.

Nathan Smallbeck, who met Mr. Keodara when they were both at a juvenile boot camp, told police that Mr. Keodara had called him after the shooting and said he "just shot at a bus station." 5/13/13RP 36. He also claimed Mr. Keodara told him the shooting involved homeless people, but another friend said that he had told Mr. Smallbeck about the incident from the television news. *Id.* at 37; 5/15/13RP 43. Mr. Smallbeck insisted he received the call from Mr. Keodara at 3:18 a.m. the day of the shooting. 5/13/13RP 35. However, telephone records did not show Mr. Smallbeck receiving such a call or other calls he claimed

to have received from Mr. Keodara after the incident. 5/13/13RP 62; 5/14/13RP 31, 33.

The State tried to connect Mr. Keodara to the crime scene through his cell phone. They had seized the phone when arresting him for an unrelated incident about five weeks after the shooting. 5/15/13RP 8, 10. They obtained a warrant to search through all contacts, all pictures, all text messages, all phone calls, and any other stored information on the phone. CP172.

Mr. Keodara objected to this warrant as overbroad and asked to suppress all evidence improperly seized from the phone. 5/2/13RP 23, 26; CP 83-87. The court denied his motion to suppress without an evidentiary hearing. 5/2/13RP 28. At trial, the State used text messages and pictures taken from the seized phone to show that Mr. Keodara wore clothing similar to that worn by the shooter, his relationship with Ms. Long, and how he looked near the time of the incident. *Id.* at 28-30; 5/15/13RP 19-23; Ex. 62; CP 241-47. It also used the cell phone to obtain tracking information indicating the phone was in the area of the shooting at the time of the shooting. 5/14/13RP 11, 27-28, 103, 141-49.

Mr. Keodara was convicted of the charged offenses of first degree murder and three counts of first degree assault, each with a

separate firearm enhancement, as well as unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 179-81. Acknowledging that Mr.

Keodara was 17 years old at the time of the incident, the court imposed a sentence at the low end of the standard range at the State's request.

6/14/13RP 39, 44. Defense counsel made no sentencing argument other than joining the State's request for a low-end sentence. *Id.* at 40-41.

Based on statutory consecutive sentencing requirements, Mr. Keodara received a standard range sentence of 831 months in prison, including 240 months of consecutive firearm enhancements for which no good time is permitted. CP 297; RCW 9.94A.729.

E. ARGUMENT.

- 1. The overbroad, generalized search warrant authorizing a seizure of all data contained in a cell phone unreasonably invaded Mr. Keodara's private affairs contrary to the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 7
 - a. A search warrant must be particularized in its scope to be constitutionally valid.

One of the "driving forces" in creating the Fourth Amendment was the founder's opposition to "general warrants" that allowed the government "to rummage through their homes in an unrestrained search for evidence of criminal activity." *Riley v. California*, _ U.S. _, 134

S.Ct. 2473, 2494 (2014); U.S. Const. amend. 4. In *Riley*, the Supreme Court unanimously agreed that because modern cell phones are essentially "minicomputers" capable of storing an enormous amount of information about "the privacies of life," they cannot be searched without a warrant. *Id.* at 2489, 2495. However, a warrant that gives police "unbridled discretion to rummage at will among a person's private effects" is also contrary to the Fourth Amendment. *See id.* at 2492.

Under the Fourth Amendment, "a warrant may not be issued unless probable cause is properly established and the scope of the authorized search is set out with particularity." *Kentucky v. King*, _U.S. _, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 1856, 179 L.Ed.2d 865 (2011). Particularity requires that the warrant "must specify the items to be seized by their relationship to the designated crimes." *United States v. Galpin*, 720 F.3d 436, 446 (2nd Cir. 2013). There must also be a nexus between the objects to be seized and the probable cause upon which the warrant is

or things to be seized.

The Fourth Amendment provides:
The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons

based. *Id.* The purpose of the particularity requirement is to ensure that "the permitted invasion of a suspect's privacy and property are no more than absolutely necessary." *Id.* (citing *United States v. George*, 975 F.2d 72, 76 (2nd Cir. 1992)).

"[T]he particularity requirement assumes even greater importance" when the property to be searched is a computer. *Id.* Cell phones, like computers, are capable of storing immense amounts of private information, including tracking a person's location over long periods of times, collecting any personal contacts, and holding thousands of photographs with dates, locations, and descriptions. *Riley*, 134 S.Ct. at 2489-90. Consequently, searches of digital information "involve a degree of intrusiveness much greater in quantity, if not different in kind, from searches of other containers." *United States v. Payton*, 573 F.3d 859, 861 (9th Cir. 2009).

"It is well-established that article I, section 7² is qualitatively different from the Fourth Amendment and provides greater protections." *State v. Hinton*, 179 Wn.2d 862, 868, 319 P.3d 9 (2014). Article I, section 7 "clearly recognizes an individual's right to privacy

² Article I, section 7 provides, "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law."

with no express limitations and places greater emphasis on privacy." State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 348, 979 P.2d 833 (1999).

In *Hinton*, decided before *Riley*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the contents of text messages are protected private affairs under article I, section 7, even those sent to someone else and read by the police on the recipient's phone. 179 Wn.2d at 869-70. Washington has a long history of protecting personal and sensitive information conveyed over telephones, favoring individual privacy by restricting the police from access to such information. *Id.* at 871-72, 874.

Text messages encompass "intimate subjects" as well as a "wealth of detail about a person's familial, political, professional, religious, and sexual associations." *Id.* at 869 (quoting *United States v. Jones*, _U.S. _, 132 S.Ct. 945, 955, 181 L.Ed.2d 911 (2012) (Sotomayor, J. concurring)). The scope of private information available on a cell phone requires "greater vigilance" from courts when authorizing a search that "could become a vehicle for the government to gain access to a larger pool of data that it has no probable cause to collect." *United States v. Schesso*, 730 F.3d 1040, 1042 (9th Cir. 2013). Whether a search warrant contains a sufficiently particularized description permitting seizure of information for which there is

probable cause is reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Perrone*, 119 Wn.2d 538, 549, 834 P.2d 611 (1992).

b. The search warrant authorizing unlimited access to a cell phone's private information violated the particularity requirement of the Fourth Amendment and the protections of article I, section 7.

The warrant used to search Mr. Keodara's cell phone was premised on probable cause of fourth degree assault, unlawful possession of a firearm, and possession of a controlled substance with the intent to deliver. CP 174. These alleged offenses were based on discrete incidents in time and place: the assault occurred October 14, 2011, where an unnamed person claimed Mr. Keodara was driving a car involving in a "bb gun" shooting; and the firearm and drug possession arose from Mr. Keodara's October 20, 2011 arrest, where he was a passenger in a car that contained firearms and "three bags of mushrooms in the trunk, located in a camera bag next to paperwork belonging to Michael Pol (the driver of the vehicle)." CP 167, 175. Mr. Keodara's backpack was seized at the time of his October 20, 2011 arrest and the cell phone was inside his backpack. CP 175.

Under the particularity requirement, there must be a nexus between these specific offenses and the search authorized by the

warrant to ensure that the invasion of privacy is "no more than absolutely necessary." *Galpin*, 720 F.3d at 446. Yet the warrant permitting the search of Mr. Keodara's cell phone contained no limitation in time, place, or scope.

The court authorized the police to broadly search the phone and seize evidence of any criminal activity located, including:

Stored phone contact numbers, all call history logs, all text messages, all picture messages, chat logs, voicemail messages, photographs, and information contained in any save address databases or SIM cards within the cell phone, pictures, videos, a forensic image of the storage media, all documents, chat and internet activity and electronic data that identifies the owner or users of the cellular phone.

CP 172.

Although execution of the warrant was required within ten days, once seized the warrant did not limit the State's access to information from the cell phone. *Id.* It authorized the police to copy all "storage media," so the police could search through all stored information. *Id.* The warrant did not put any limits on the topics of information for

³ "Storage media" means "any device capable of holding information" and includes memory cards or cloud storage. *See* Computer Hope, Computer Dictionary -S, available at: http://www.computerhope.com/jargon/s/stordevi.htm (last viewed July 21, 2014). "Without a storage device, your computer would not be able to save any settings or information." *Id*.

which the police could search. *Id*. It did not limit the search to information generated close in time to the incidents for which the police had probable cause. *Id*.

In a recent case involving the government's request to examine electronic records in the context of baseball players suspected of using steroids, the Ninth Circuit warned that a broad search for computer records posed a "serious risk that every warrant for electronic information will become, in effect, a general warrant, rendering the Fourth Amendment irrelevant." *United States v. Comprehensive Drug Testing, Inc.*, 579 F.3d 989, 1006 (9th Cir. 2009), *affirmed*, 621 F.3d 1162 (9th Cir. 2010). In *Riley*, the Supreme Court similarly suggested that search protocols limit the scope of an invasion into a person's privacy when rummaging through the host of information accessed through a person's cell phone. 134 S.Ct. at 2491.

Here, the search warrant application claimed the need to search Mr. Keodara's phone because he was a known member of a gang and "it is common for gang members to take pictures of themselves" posing with firearms or before or after committing crimes. CP 175. The detective alleged that the phone would contain "evidence of gang affiliation" and "criminals often text each other or their buyers

photographs of the drugs intended to be sold or recently purchased.

Gang members will often take pictures of themselves or fellow gang members with their cell phones such show them using drugs." *Id*.

Being affiliated with a gang is protected First Amendment activity. *State v. Scott*, 151 Wn.App. 520, 526, 213 P.3d 71 (2009) ("Like membership in a church, social club, or community organization, affiliation with a gang is protected by our First Amendment right of association."). A warrant authorizing seizure of materials protected by the First Amendment requires close scrutiny to ensure compliance with the particularity and probable cause requirements. *Zurcher v. Stanford Daily*, 436 U.S. 547, 564, 98 S.Ct. 1970, 56 L.Ed.3d 525 (1978); *Perrone*, 119 Wn.2d at 547 (where warrant authorizes search for materials protected by First Amendment "the degree of particularity demanded is greater").

In *Perrone*, there was probable cause to seize child pornography from the defendant's home, but the search warrant allowed the police to search for items related to adult pornography, drawings, and sexual paraphernalia, which are lawful to possess and implicate First Amendment protected activities. 119 Wn.2d at 551. Although the warrant also referred to illegal "child pornography," it authorized police

to search materials that were not illegal. *Id.* at 553. The court concluded that the warrant was overbroad by "vesting too much discretion in the executing officers" and authorizing a general search of materials protected by the First Amendment. *Id.* at 559. Similarly to *Perrone*, the search warrant gave vast discretion to the police to search for legal contacts, pictures, and messages merely because it might reflect affiliation with a gang, which is not illegal.

Furthermore, generalizations about how drug dealers keep drugs and records of drug selling in their residences do not provide "a sufficient basis in fact from which to conclude evidence of illegal activity will likely be found at the place to be searched." *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 147, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). An affidavit that is simply "a declaration of suspicion and belief" about the habits typical of certain types of people who commit crimes "is legally insufficient." *Id.* Consequently, "generalities" alone are not reasonably specific enough to establish a basis to search a particular place. *Id.* at 147-48.

In the case at bar, the warrant application used generalities about how people behave who are involved in gangs or sell any type of drugs. It was not based on an allegation about Mr. Keodara's use of his phone or how people in a car that contains illegal mushrooms behave. It

authorized the police to search through "all" call history, all contacts, all text messages, and internet history stored through the phone. The police had license to search information that had no nexus to whether Mr. Keodara was involved in the alleged criminal activity on October 14 or 20, 2011, and encompassed material protected by the First Amendment.

For example, the State searched text messages pursuant to the warrant that it used at Mr. Keodara's trial. These texts involved communicating with girls about meeting them. There is nothing related to an assault, illegal gang activity, or drug possession in these friendly, potentially romantic chats. The State's desire to obtain information about Mr. Keodara's personal relationships and affiliations is not justified by the limited assertion of probable cause.

The search warrant contained no limits on the types of text messages, photographs, "call history," "chat logs," or other "internet activity." The police had free reign to read through records contained in the phone, at their leisure, having a forensic image of all data obtained from the phone. The breadth of this invasion of Mr. Keodara's private affairs was not justified by the probable cause alleged describing his involvement in a discrete incident and at single point in time.

Given the ubiquity of cell phones and the broad scope in which cell phones are used to accomplish daily tasks, the police did not provide reasonably specific information required to gain unlimited access to rummage through all private information stored on a cell phone based on the allegation of gang affiliation and habits of gang members or drug sellers.

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