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

CP 83 (italics added). 

The only language from the Affidavit for Search Warrant that 

Keodara referenced in his briefing in the trial court was the 

language supporting a connection between drug- and firearm-

related crimes committed by gang members and their cell phones, 

based on the officer's training and experience. CP 83-84. 

Quotation of that language is followed in the trial brief by the 

argument that "[t]here was no particularized information in the 
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warrant as to why the officer believed that Say Keodara would have 

such information on that cellphone." CP 84. 

Nowhere in Keodara's argument is there even any mention 

of the language in the search warrant that he now challenges on 

appeal (describing the specific types and locations of information 

that may be seized from the cell phone). CP 172; AOB at 12. 

While Keodara included the particularity requirement in his 

recitation of general search warrant law (CP 83), he made 

absolutely no argument on this issue. While he cited a case for the, 

proposition that "[t]he fourth amendment also contains a 

particularity requirement that prevents general searches and 'the 

issuance of warrants on loose, vague, or doubtful bases of fact,'" he 

followed that only with a nexus argument ("In this particular case, 

there were no facts and circumstances sufficient to establish that 

evidence of the crimes of misdemeanor assault or unlawful 

possession of a firearm, or possession with intent to deliver 

narcotics as it relates to Say Keodara would be found on Keodara's 

cellphone,"). CP 84. 

Keodara followed more than two pages of citations to cases 

requiring a specific nexus between the items to be seized and the 

place to be searched (CP 84-86) with a summary of his argument: 
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"The search warrant in this matter was based on a conclusory, 

generalized affidavit that did not establish a particularized nexus 

between the crimes and the phone believed to belong to Say 

Keodara, and as such all information obtained from the phone 

should be suppressed." CP 87 (italics added). 

Nor did Keodara replace or augment his nexus argument 

with a particularity or overbreadth challenge at oral argument in the 

trial court. When invited by the trial court to present argument on 

his suppression motion, Keodara's counsel stated that she would 

"stand on [her] brief on this one too." 2RP 23. Counsel then 

reiterated her challenge to Officer Barfield's basis for searching the 

cell phone at all, arguing that "there's no link whatsoever" between 

the cell phone and the evidence sought. 2RP 26-27. 

The trial court, responding to the specific challenge raised, 

found only that the two affidavits for the two search warrants 

together provided "sufficient basis for searching the phones [sic]," 

and denied the motion to suppress.17 2RP 27-28. Having never 

been presented with any argument that the search warrant was 

overbroad with respect to the locations on the cell phone that could 

17 There were no written findings entered under erR 3.6, because no evidentiary 
hearing was requested or held pursuant to the suppression motion. 
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be searched or the data that could be seized, the trial court made 

no findings and no ruling on that issue. 

Because he failed to raise this issue below, Keodara has 

waived the issue for appeal unless he can show manifest 

constitutional error, i.e., "practical and identifiable consequences in 

the trial of the case." See Kirkman, 159 Wn .2d at 935. Because 

the trial record here is insufficient to determine the merits of his 

claim of overbreadth, Keodara cannot establish manifest 

constitutional error. 18 See Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935; McFarland, 

127 Wn.2d at 333; Kirkpatrick, 160 Wn.2d at 880-81. 

Had the issue been raised, the trial court could have 

considered whether any parts of the search warrant that were 

overbroad could have been severed from other, valid parts of the 

warrant. Under the severability doctrine, an infirmity in one part of 

a search warrant requires suppression of any evidence seized 

under that portion of the warrant, but does not require suppression 

of evidence seized under valid parts of the warrant. State v. 

Temple, 170 Wn. App. 156, 163, 285 P.3d 149 (2012). One of the 

18 In .t:il9.9..§, where the defendant in the trial court raised only a challenge to 
probable cause for issuance of the search warrant, the Court of Appeals found 
that he had not preserved an overbreadth claim for review. 177 Wn. App. at 
422-23. The court did not address RAP 2.5(a), however, because the defendant 
argued ineffective assistance of counsel. kL at 423-24. 
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factors used in determining whether any invalid portions of a search 

warrant may be severed is that "the searching officers must have 

found and seized the disputed items while executing the valid part 

of the warrant." ~ 

Keodara argues on appeal that because the search warrant 

"did not limit the State's access to information from the cell phone," 

but rather authorized a search of virtually all storage areas of the 

phone, the warrant was overly broad. AOB at 12. But because he 

did not raise this objection below, there is no testimony from Officer 

Barfield regarding which part of the warrant the photo and text 

messages at issue were seized under.19 Thus, the record is not 

suffident for review of this claim, and this Court should decline to 

address the claim on the merits. 

19 Even on appeal, Keodara makes only the most general of claims as to 
overbreadth. He never specifies which parts of the warrant were invalid, or what 
limits he believes should have been placed on the search of the cell phone. 
Assuming that there was a sufficient nexus between the crimes alleged in the 
search warrant affidavit and Keodara's cell phone such that the warrant was 
supported by probable cause, it appears that, at a minimum, a search of text 
messages and photographs (i.e., the very items seized) would have been valid. 

- 31 -
1412-14 Keodara COA 



e. The Search Warrant Was Not Overbroad. 2o 

The Fourth Amendment requires that a search warrant 

particularly describe the place to be searched and the things to be 

seized. U.S. Canst. amend. IV. In determining whether a warrant 

meets the particularity requirement, the reviewing court asks 

whether a police officer executing the warrant would reasonably 

know what items are to be seized. United States v. Kimbrough, 69 

F.3d 723, 727 (5th Cir. 1995). 

Where detailed particularity is not possible, generic language 

is permissible if it particularizes the types of items to be seized. ~ 

The degree of specificity required is flexible; it varies depending on 

the crime at issue and the types of items sought. United States v. 

Richards, 659 F.3d 527, 537 (6th Cir. 2011). A warrant will be valid 

if it is as specific as the circumstances and the nature of the 

criminal activity under investigation permit. ~ "[I]n the end, there 

may be no practical substitute for actually looking in many (perhaps 

20 The specificity requirement of the Fourth Amendment "has two aspects: 
particularity and breadth. Particularity is the requirement that the warrant must 
clearly state what is sought. Breadth deals with the requirement that the scope 
of the warrant be limited by the probable cause on which the warrant is based." 
United States v. Towne, 997 F.2d 537, 544 (9th Cir. 1993) (citation omitted); see 
also United States v. SDI Future Health, Inc., 568 F.3d 684,702 (9th Cir. 2009) 
("particularity and overbreadth remain two distinct parts of the evaluation of a 
warrant for Fourth Amendment purposes"). Keodara's brief does not distinguish 
between the two concepts, using them interchangeably. The State believes that 
its argument responds on both points. 
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all) folders and sometimes at the documents contained within those 

folders, and that is true whether the search is of computer files or 

physical files." ~ at 539 (italics added). See United States v. 

Triplett, 684 F.3d 500, 502 (5th Cir. 2012) ("We agree with our sister 

circuits to have addressed the issue that 'a computer search may 

be as extensive as reasonably required to locate the items 

described in the warrant based on probable cause.'" (quoting 

Richards, 659 F.3d at 538)); United States v. Burgess, 576 F.3d 

1078, 1092 (10th Cir. 2009) (same); United States v. Schesso, 730 

F.3d 1040, 1043, 1046 (9th Cir. 2013) (finding warrant authorizing 

search of "[a]ny computer or electronic equipment or digital data 

storage devices" capable of being used for possession and 

distribution of child pornography not overly broad where 

government had no way of knowing where illicit files might be 

stored). 

A search warrant that specifies the crimes for which 

evidence may be sought will generally be found to be sufficiently 

particular. For example, in Hedgepath v. Commonwealth, the 

defendant was under investigation in the beating death of his 

girlfriend. 441 S.W.3d 119, 122 (Ky. 2014) . Police obtained a 

search warrant for Hedgepath's apartment and his vehicle. Id. at 
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126-27. The warrant specifically authorized seizure of any cell 

phones found in those locations. 19..:. at 127, 130 ("all personal 

property including but not limited to all electronic equipment, 

computers, and cell phones") . Videos found on the cell phone were 

highly incriminating . 19..:. at 122-23. 

Hedgepath argued that the warrant lacked particularity as to 

the search of his cell phone. 19..:. at 130. The Kentucky Supreme 

Court, noting that the warrant authorized seizure of "any and all 

items that may have been used to aid in the assault," found the 

warrant sufficiently particular. 19..:. at 130 (italics added) , 131. The 

court reasoned that, "though the warrant did not limit the parts of 

the cell phone that could be searched, or the types of files or data 

that were to be sought, the clear thrust of the warrant was for 

evidence related to the physical and sexual assaults committed on 

Mary Reyes." 19..:. at 130. 

The Nebraska Supreme Court's decision in State v. 

Henderson, 289 Neb. 271,854 N.W.2d 616 (2014), provides a 

useful contrasting scenario. Police, who were investigating 

Henderson in a shooting death, obtained a search warrant for the 

cell phone taken from him at the time of his arrest. 19..:. at 276. The 
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warrant,21 which authorized a search of "any and all information," 

did not refer to the specific crime being investigated or to the type 

of information encompassed by the authorization. ~ at 289-90. 

The court found that the warrant did not meet the particularity 

requirement of the Fourth Amendment. ~ at 290 . 

The search warrant for Keodara's cell phone was sufficiently 

particular. The warrant did not authorize a search for "any and all" 

evidence or information, but rather authorized police to search for 

evidence of the specific crimes of Fourth Degree Assault, Unlawful 

Possession of Firearms, and Possession with Intent to Deliver or 

Sell Narcotics.22 CP 172. This language sufficiently limited, for 

Fourth Amendment purposes, the discretion of a police officer 

searching the phone under the warrant. See United States v. 

Upham, 168 F.3d 532, 536 n.1 (1 51 Cir. 1999) (language limiting 

seizure to images "of minors engaging in sexually explicit conduct" 

left little latitude to executing officers and was sufficiently particular 

to satisfy Fourth Amendment). 

21 Police actually obtained two search warrants for the cell phone, but they 
contained identical language as relevant to particularity. Henderson, 289 Neb. at 
289-90. 

22 Because there was no proper challenge below, and thus no evidentiary 
hearing, the record does not show whether police found any photos or texts 
evidencing these crimes. Nor does it show at what point Officer Barfield may 
have recognized the photo and the texts admitted in this case as incriminating . 
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Nor could the warrant reasonably have limited the areas of 

the cell phone to be searched . Pictures of firearms, or text 

messages relating to the sale of narcotics, could have been located 

in any area of the cell phone. See United States v. Hay, 231 F.3d 

630, 636-37 (9th Cir. 2000) (search and seizure of Hay's entire 

computer system, as authorized by the warrant to search for 

evidence relating to the sexual exploitation of children, was proper 

because government "had no way of knowing where the images 

were stored"). 

Other than proposing a time limitation, Keodara makes no 

attempt to specify how the search warrant in his case lacked 

particularity or was overly broad.23 He does not identify which 

areas of his phone should not have been available for search. He 

does not say how the police could have more specifically identified 

which areas of the phone were likely to contain photos, text 

23 Keodara suggests that the search should have been limited to "information 
generated close in time to the incidents for which the police had probable cause." 
AOS at 13. He fails to explain why, e.g ., a photo of himself holding the firearm 
that was found in the car he was riding in , even if taken a year earlier, should not 
have been seizable under the warrant. 
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messages, or voicemails relating to illegal firearms, illicit drugs, or 

the assault referenced in the affidavit (CP 167).24 

Keodara also challenges the search warrant on First 

Amendment grounds, citing to case law holding that "[b]eing 

affiliated with a gang is protected First Amendment activity." AOS 

at 14. He fails to explain how photos, text messages, etc. that 

evidence crimes (illegal firearms possession, narcotics sales, 

assault) are protected under the First Amendment, simply because 

they also evidence affiliation with a gang. They are not. See State 

v. Scott, 151 Wn. App. 520, 526, 213 P.3d 71 (2009) (evidence of 

gang affiliation relevant and admissible where there is a connection 

between the crime and the gang), rev. denied, 168 Wn.2d 1004 

(2010); State v. Campbell, 78 Wn. App. 813, 822-23, 901 P.2d 

1050 (same), rev. denied, 128 Wn.2d 1004 (1995); State v. 

Johnson, 124 Wn.2d 57, 67-69, 873 P.2d 514 (1994) (same). 

Keodara nominally relies on the Washington Constitution, 

citing to article I, section 7. Most of his references to this provision 

24 Keodara makes brief reference to "search protocols ," citing to a Ninth Circuit 
decision AOB at 13. But many courts have rejected this approach. See, e.g. , 
Richards, 659 F.3d at 538 ("the majority of federal courts have eschewed the use 
of a specific search protocol") (citing cases). And the dismissive reference to 
"government agency protocols" in Riley v. California, _ U.S. _, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 
2491, 189 L Ed.2d 430 (2014) was a response to the government's argument 
that such protocols might obviate the need for a search warrant. This is hardly 
an endorsement of the need for "search protocols" where, as here, a search 
warrant has been obtained. 
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are coincident with his reliance on the Fourth Amendment, and 

make no attempt to differentiate between the two. E.g., AOB at 1, 

2, 17, 18. He discusses only State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 319 

P.3d 9 (2014) in support of a separate analysis of the particularity 

requirement under the Washington Constitution. But Hinton 

considered "whether a text message conversation was 'a private 

affair[ ]' protected from a warrantless search by article I, section 7 

of our state constitution ." ~ at 865 (italics added). The court 

found that a warrant was required, but did not set out a separate 

approach under the state constitution for assessing the validity of a 

search warrant. Id. 

f. Any Error In Admitting Evidence Derived From 
The Search Of The Cell Phone Was Harmless. 

Even if the photo of Keodara in the Hornets baseball cap 

and the text messages referencing his turquoise Hornets jersey 

should have been suppressed, any error was harmless.25 In light of 

other strong evidence of Keodara's guilt, this Court can be 

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the outcome would have 

been the same even without this evidence. 

25 The text message referencing "Lacana babe" was surely harmless, as Keodara 
did not dispute that Lacana Long was his ex-girlfriend. Ex. 62(C); 8RP 149. 
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Error of constitutional magnitude can be harmless if it is 

proved to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Jones, 

168 Wn.2d 713, 724, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). Such error is harmless 

if the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that 

any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without 

the error. kL 

The evidence before the jury of Keodara's guilt was very 

strong. First and foremost was eyewitness identification. Sharon 

McMillon, one of the victims who survived the shooting at the bus 

shelter, gave a description of the shooter that, while not a perfect 

match, generally fit Say Keodara. She said that the shooter was an 

Asian male (Keodara is Asian), between 17 and 23 years old 

(Keodara was 17 at the time), about 5'3" tall (Keodara is 5'6"), with 

short hair and no facial hair (Keodara had short hair and no facial 

hair when he was arrested one month later). 6RP 152-57; 10RP 5,

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